
SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
MARTINEZ, CA 

DEPARTMENT 36 
HEARING DATE:  10/06/2022 

 

 

 

 

The tentative ruling will become the Court’s ruling unless by 4:00 p.m. of the court day preceding the 

hearing, counsel or self-represented parties call the department rendering the decision to request 

argument and to specify the issues to be argued.  Calling counsel or self-represented parties 

requesting argument must advise all other affected counsel and self-represented parties by no later 

than 4:00 p.m. of his or her decision to appear and of the issues to be argued.  Failure to timely advise 

the Court and counsel or self-represented parties will preclude any party from arguing the matter. 

 (Local Rule 3.43(2).)  CourtCall will NOT be used by D36.  Zoom is approved for all hearings except 

Issue Conferences and Trials.  Dept. 36’s telephone number is: (925) 608-1136. 

NOTE:  In order to minimize the risk of miscommunication, Dept. 36 prefers and encourages fax or 

email notification to the department of the request to argue and specification of issues to be argued – 

with a STRONG PREFERENCE FOR EMAIL NOTIFICATION.  Dept. 36’s Fax Number is: (925) 608-

2693.  Dept. 36’s email address is: dept36@contracosta.courts.ca.gov. 

Submission of Orders After Hearing in Department 36 Cases 

The prevailing party must prepare an order after hearing in accordance with CRC 3.1312. The order 

must include appearances.  If the tentative ruling becomes the Court’s ruling, a copy of the Court’s 

tentative ruling must be attached to the proposed order when submitted to the Court for issuance of 

the order. 

Law & Motion 

 
   

    

1. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  C22-00925 
CASE NAME:  FALLAH VS. MORGAN STANLEY MORTGAGE 
 HEARING ON DEMURRER TO:    
FILED BY:  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Parties ordered to appear.  Counsel for moving party, Planet Home Lending was ordered to make 
further attempts to meet and confer with Plaintiff’s counsel regarding the demurrer.  No declaration 
was received by this Court.   
 

 

  

    

2. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  C22-01228 
CASE NAME:  RAY MONTGOMERY VS.  NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE 
 HEARING ON DEMURRER TO:  NOTICE OF DEMURRER COMPLAINT FILED BY DEF NATIONSTAR 
MORTGAGE AND US BANK NATIONAL ASSOC ON 8/19/22  
FILED BY: NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Before the Court is Defendants Nationstar Mortgage LLC d/b/a/ Mr. Cooper (erroneously sued as 

Nationstar Mortgage dba Mr. Cooper) (“NM Defendant”) and U.S. Bank National Association, as 

Trustee, successor in interest to Bank of America, National Association, as Trustee, successor by 

merger to LaSalle Bank National Association, as Trustee for Merrill Lynch Mortgage Investors Trust, 

Mortgage Loan Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2006-HE4’s (“MLMIT Defendant”) Demurrer to 

mailto:dept36@contracosta.courts.ca.gov


SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
MARTINEZ, CA 

DEPARTMENT 36 
HEARING DATE:  10/06/2022 

 

 

 

 

Complaint.  

The Complaint alleges eight causes of action: violations of Civil Code Sections (1) 2923.5; (2) 

2924(a)(1); (3) 2923.6(c); (4) 2923.7; (5) 2924.9; (6) 2924.10; (7) violation of California Business and 

Professions Code 17200 et seq.; and (8) Civil Code Section 3412. Defendants allege that the Complaint 

fails to allege facts sufficient to state each of the above causes of action, pursuant to California Civil 

Code 430.10(e). 

For the following reasons, Defendants’ Demurrer is sustained. Plaintiffs are granted leave to amend.   

Defendants’ Request for Judicial Notice regarding the Substitution of Trustee recorded on November 

24, 2020 is granted. (Cal. Evid. Code 452(h); Evans v. California Trailer Court, Inc. (1994) 28 

Cal.App.4th 540, 549.)  

Standard for Demurrer 

“The function of a demurrer is to test the sufficiency of the complaint as a matter of law.” (Holiday 
Matinee, Inc. v. Rambus, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1413, 1420.) A complaint “is sufficient if it alleges 
ultimate rather than evidentiary facts” (Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 42 Cal.4th 531, 550 (“Doe”)), 
but the plaintiff must set forth the essential facts of his or her case “with reasonable precision and 
with particularity sufficient to acquaint [the] defendant with the nature, source and extent” of the 
plaintiff’s claim. (Doheny Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., Inc. v. Truck Ins. Exchange (2005) 132 
Cal.App.4th 1076, 1099.)  

Legal conclusions are insufficient. (Id. at 1098–99; Doe at 551, fn. 5.) The Court “assume[s] the truth 
of the allegations in the complaint, but do[es] not assume the truth of contentions, deductions, or 
conclusions of law.” (California Logistics, Inc. v. State of California (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 242, 247.) A 
demurrer lies only for defects appearing on the face of the complaint or from matters of which the 
court must or may take judicial notice. (CCP 430.40; see Blank v. Kirwan (1985) 39 Cal.3d 311, 318.)  

Factual Allegations 

Plaintiffs Ray and Marie Montgomery (“Plaintiffs”) own real property located at 764 Rock Rose Way, 
San Pablo, California (the “Property”). (Complaint ¶1.) On or about May 24, 2006, they obtained two 
mortgage loans on the Property from First NCL Financial Services, LLC, in the amounts of $543,200 
and $135,800. (Complaint ¶10-11.) Both are memorialized by a Deed of Trust recorded in Contra 
Costa County. (Ibid.) There were a number of assignments of these Deeds of Trust, including an 
assignment to NM Defendant on September 3, 2013 and then to MLMIT Defendant on January 13, 
2015. (Id. at ¶¶14-15.)  

On February 10, 2022, a Notice of Default and Election to Sell Under a Deed of Trust (“Notice of 
Default”) was recorded in Contra Costa County. (Id. at ¶16.) Thereafter, on April 15, 2022, Plaintiffs 
submitted a Complete Loan Modification Application to NM Defendant through their agent Non-Profit 
Alliance of Consumer Advocates, and requested a single point of contact. (Id. at ¶17.) On April 22, 
2022, the Non-Profit Alliance called NM Defendant regarding the loan modification request, and was 
informed it was denied because they were unable to make the monthly payments lower then what 
Plaintiffs were currently paying. (Id. at ¶18.) On May 20, 2022, Non-Profit Alliance submitted an 
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appeal to NM Defendant, alleging that NM Defendant failed to provide the income used to make this 
determination and the value of the property. (Id. at ¶20.) “There has been no 5 day 
acknowledgement just a denial in 6 days, no QWR and Debt Validation, and no Single Point of Contact 
provided.” (Id. at ¶21.)  

The Complaint also alleges that MLMIT Defendant “failed to advise PLAINTIFFS in writing within 30 
days that their Deed of Trust was transferred or assigned to a third party, and that it is the new owner 
or assignee of the debt is illegal in violation of Title 15 U.S.C. § 1641(g). 

 Analysis 

Civil Code § 2923.5 

Civil Code Section 2923.5 provides, in relevant part: 

A mortgage servicer, mortgagee, trustee, beneficiary, or authorized agent shall not 
record a notice of default pursuant to Section 2924 until both of the following: 

(A) Either 30 days after initial contact is made as required by paragraph (2) or 30 days 
after satisfying the due diligence requirements as described in subdivision (e). 

(B) The mortgage servicer complies with paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Section 
2924.18, if the borrower has provided a complete application as defined in 
subdivision (d) of Section 2924.18. 

With regards to the “contact” required by (A) above, the mortgage servicer “shall contact the 
borrower in person or by telephone in order to assess the borrower’s financial situation and 
explore options for the borrower to avoid foreclosure.” (Cal. Civ. Code 2923.5(a)(2).)  

“By its terms, section 2923.5 operates substantively on lenders. They must do things in order 
to comply with the law.” (Mabry v. Superior Court (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 208, 222.) However, 
even though the law requires the mortgage servicer to do certain things, if those actions are 
not taken, the borrower’s remedy is extremely limited. Under the plain language of section 
2923.5, “the only remedy provided is a postponement of the [foreclosure] sale before it 
happens.” (Id. at 235.)  

Here, the Complaint alleges that the Notice of Default was recorded on February 10, 2022. (Complaint 
at ¶16.) Plaintiffs allege that they “were staying in their home when the Notice of Default was issued, 
and received no mail or messages.” (Id. at ¶25.)  

As allegations in the Complaint must be taken as true, Defendant does not dispute the lack of 
communication prior to recording the Notice of Default. Defendant does, however, point out that the 
only remedy available for non-compliance with section 2923.5 is postponement of the foreclosure 
sale until such communications are had. (Demur at 2:22-25; Mabry, supra, 185 Cal.App.4th at 235.)  

Defendants note that following the Notice of Default being recorded, Plaintiffs submitted a Complete 
Loan Modification Application on April 15, 2022. Thereafter, Plaintiffs’ agent, the Non-profit Alliance, 
“called NM Defendant and spoke to and was told modification was denied because they were not 
able to make the monthly payments lower [than] they are currently paying.” (Complaint at ¶18.) 
Defendants contend these discussions satisfy the requirements of section 2923.5.  
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Putting aside whether such post-Notice of Default discussions can be deemed sufficient, Plaintiffs’ 
Complaint fails to allege any prejudice as a result of the alleged lack of notice. In order to properly 
assert a cause of action under Section 2923.5, a plaintiff must allege that they suffered prejudice as a 
result of the defendant’s failure to provide the requisite notice. (Pantoja v. Countrywide Home Loans, 
Inc. (2009) 640 F.Supp.2d 1177, 1186-87.) Here, the Complaint does not allege that a foreclosure sale 
has occurred, nor does it allege that any foreclosure sale is pending.  

As the only available remedy under section 2923.5 is a delay of a pending foreclosure sale to allow 
the lender to comply with the statute, and there are no allegations of a pending foreclosure sale, 
Plaintiffs have failed to properly allege a cause of action under Section 2923.5.  

Based on the above, Defendants’ demurrer to the first cause of action is sustained. (CCP § 430.10(e).) 
Plaintiff is granted leave to amend. 

Civil Code § 2924(a)(1) 

Plaintiff agrees to “cease to pursue” this cause of action. (Opp. at 1:12-13.) As such, Defendants’ 
demurrer to the second cause of action is sustained. (CCP § 430.10(e).)  

Civil Code § 2923.6(c) 

The Complaint alleges that Defendants “violated § 2923.6(c) by failing to rescind all foreclosure 
efforts against PLAINTIFFS, including the recording of a Notice of Default or Notice of Trustee’s Sale.” 
(Complaint ¶ 39.)  

Section 2923.6(c) provides, in relevant part: 

If a borrower submits a complete application for a first lien loan modification offered 
by, or through, the borrower’s mortgage servicer at least five business days before a 
scheduled foreclosure sale, a mortgage servicer … or authorized agent shall not 
record a notice of default or notice of sale, or conduct a trustee’s sale, while the 
complete first lien loan modification application is pending. A mortgage servicer … or 
authorized agent shall not record a notice of default or notice of sale or conduct a 
trustee’s sale until any of the following occurs: 

(1) The mortgage servicer makes a written determination that the borrower is not 
eligible for a first lien loan modification, and any appeal period pursuant to 
subdivision (d) has expired. … (Cal. Civ. Code § 2923.6(c).)  

If the borrower’s application for a loan modification is denied, the borrower “shall have at 
least 30 days from the date of the written denial to appeal the denial …” (Cal. Civ. Code § 
2923.6(d).) 

Here, the Complaint alleges that a Notice of Default was recorded on February 10, 2022. 
(Complaint at ¶16, Ex. G.) About one month later, on April 15, 2022, Plaintiffs submitted a 
Complete Loan Modification Application. (Id. at ¶17.) That loan modification application was 
denied on April 22, 2022, and Plaintiff subsequently filed an appeal on May 20, 2022. (Id. at 
¶¶ 18-20.)  

As the specific language of section 2923.6(c) states, a notice of default cannot be recorded 
after submission of a loan modification request – unless certain conditions are met. Here, the 
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allegations are that the Notice of Default was filed before the Plaintiffs submitted their 
Complete Loan Modification Application. Accordingly, there was not, and could not, be a 
violation of this Section.  

Plaintiffs’ citation to McLaughlin v. Aurora Loan Servs. 2014 WL 1705832 (C.D. Cal. Apr. 28, 
2014) does not support their position. There, the court found that since no notice of sale was 
recorded before the borrower’s application was denied, there could not be a violation of this 
section. (Id. at *15.) It was only the alternative argument that the notice of sale being 
recorded before the lender rendered a decision on the borrower’s timely appeal of the denial 
of the loan modification that was a potentially viable claim. Such facts are not alleged in the 
current matter.  

Based on the above, Defendants’ demurrer to the third cause of action is sustained. (CCP § 
430.10(e).) Plaintiff is granted leave to amend. 

Civil Code § 2923.7 (NM Defendant only) 

The Complaint alleges that when Plaintiffs submitted their Complete Loan Modification Application 
they also requested a single point of contact (“SPOC”). (Complaint ¶42.) The NM Defendant failed to 
assign a SPOC within a reasonable time after receipt of the Complete Loan Modification Application. 
(Id. at ¶43.)  

“When a borrower requests a foreclosure prevention alternative, the mortgage servicer shall 
promptly establish a single point of contact and provide the borrower one or more direct means of 
communication with the single point of contact.” (Cal. Civ. Code § 2923.7(a).) A borrower must allege 
a ‘material violation of Section … 2923.7” if they are requesting injunctive relief and “a trustee’s deed 
upon sale has not been recorded.” (Cal. Civ. Code 2924.12(a)(1).) “A material violation is one that 
affected the borrower’s loan obligations, disrupted the borrower’s loan-modification process, or 
otherwise harmed the borrower.” (Billesbach v. Specialized Loan Servicing LLC (2021) 63 Cal.App.5th 
830, 838.)  

Here, the Complaint alleges that when Plaintiffs submitted their Complete Loan Modification 
Application, on April 15, 2022, they requested a SPOC, but one was not assigned. The Complaint, 
however, does not include any factual allegations showing how this materially affected Plaintiffs. 
Plaintiffs were quickly informed that the loan modification request was denied and the reasons for 
the denial. (Complaint at ¶18.) They also timely submitted an appeal regarding the denial, which 
appears to still be pending. (Id. at ¶20.) Although the allegations show that a SPOC was not assigned, 
the Complaint is devoid of any factual allegations showing any impact on Plaintiffs.  

Based on the above, Defendants’ demurrer to the fourth cause of action is sustained. (CCP § 
430.10(e).) Plaintiff is granted leave to amend.  

Civil Code § 2924.9 

In relevant part, Section 2924.9 requires, within five business days after recording a notice of 
default,” a mortgage services that offers one or more foreclosure prevention alternatives to “send a 
written communication to the borrower that includes all of the following information: (1) That the 
borrower may be evaluated for a foreclosure prevention alternative or, if applicable, foreclosure 
prevention alternatives. (2) Whether an application is required to be submitted by the borrower in 



SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
MARTINEZ, CA 

DEPARTMENT 36 
HEARING DATE:  10/06/2022 

 

 

 

 

order to be considered for a foreclosure prevention alternative. (3) The means and process by which a 
borrower may obtain an application for a foreclosure prevention alternative.” (Cal. Civ. Code § 
2924.9(a)(1)-(3).)  

The Complaint alleges that no such written communication was sent following the recording of the 
Notice of Default on February 10, 2022. (Complaint at ¶48-50.) A borrower must allege a ‘material 
violation of Section … 2924.9” if they are requesting injunctive relief and “a trustee’s deed upon sale 
has not been recorded.” (Richardson v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (C.D. Cal. Aug. 11, 2016) No. 16-873-
VAP 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 107090, at *14; Cal. Civ. Code 2924.12(a)(1).) “A material violation is one 
that affected the borrower’s loan obligations, disrupted the borrower’s loan-modification process, or 
otherwise harmed the borrower.” (Billesbach v. Specialized Loan Servicing LLC (2021) 63 Cal.App.5th 
830, 838.) 

As in Richardson, the Complaint fails to allege how the failure to send the required notice amounts to 
a ‘material’ violation, given that Plaintiffs acknowledge that they submitted a Complete Loan 
Modification Application. Without any showing that the violation of Section 2924.9 was “material,” 
Plaintiffs fail to allege a cause of action.  

Based on the above, Defendants’ demurrer to the fifth cause of action is sustained. (CCP § 430.10(e).) 
Plaintiff is granted leave to amend. 

Civil Code § 2924.10 

Civil Code Section 2924.10 requires, in relevant part, that when a borrower submits a complete first 
lien modification application, the mortgage servicer shall provide written acknowledgement of the 
receipt of the documents which contains certain information. (Cal. Civ. Code § 2924.10(a).) In order to 
assert a cause of action under this Section, a borrower must allege a “material violation” of the 
Section if they are requesting injunctive relief and “a trustee’s deed upon sale has not been 
recorded.” (Richardson, supra, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 107090 quoting Cal. Civ. Code § 2924.12(a)(1).) “A 
material violation is one that affected the borrower’s loan obligations, disrupted the borrower’s loan-
modification process, or otherwise harmed the borrower.” (Billesbach v. Specialized Loan Servicing 
LLC (2021) 63 Cal.App.5th 830, 838.) 

Here, the Complaint alleges that Plaintiffs submitted a Complete Loan Modification Application on 
April 15, 2022. (Complaint ¶17.) Five business days later, on April 22, 2022, Plaintiff’s agent called NM 
Defendant and was informed that the loan modification request was denied because they were not 
able to make the monthly payments lower than what Plaintiffs were currently paying. (Id. at ¶18.) 
Plaintiff submitted an appeal on May 20, 2022. (Id. at ¶20.) It appears the appeal is still pending.  

The Complaint fails to allege materiality of the failure to receive a written acknowledgment. Plaintiff 
called and received notice that the original application was denied and the reasoning for that denial. 
Plaintiff also timely filed an appeal, which appears to still be pending. As Plaintiffs have not 
“identif[ied] a specific harm they attribute to the violation,” they have failed to state a claim under 
Section 2924.10. (Cornejo, supra, 151 F.Supp.3d at 1113; see also Richardson, supra, 2016 U.S. Dist. 
LEXIS 107090 at *15-16.)  

Based on the above, Defendants’ demurrer to the sixth cause of action is sustained. (CCP § 
430.10(e).) Plaintiff is granted leave to amend. 
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California Business and Professions Code § 17200, et seq. 

California’s unfair competition law (“UCL”) prohibits any unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business act 
or practice. (Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq.) A claim may be brought under the UCL by a person 
who has suffered injury in fact and has lost money or property as a result of unfair competition. (Cal. 
Bus. & Prof. Code § 17204). To establish standing under the UCL, a plaintiff must (1) establish a loss or 
deprivation of money sufficient to qualify as injury in fact, i.e., economic injury, and (2) show that the 
economic injury was the result of, i.e., caused by, the unfair business practice that is the gravamen of 
the claim. (See Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court (2011) 51 Cal.4th 310, 337.) 

To begin with, to the extent Plaintiffs rely upon violations of the Homeowners’ Bill of Rights (“HBOR”) 
to support their UCL cause of action, as outlined above, Plaintiffs have failed to properly allege a 
violation of any of the relevant sections. As such, it cannot form the basis of Plaintiffs’ UCL cause of 
action. 

More generally, Plaintiffs have failed to allege an injury in fact caused by any specific act or omission 
of Defendants. Under the UCL, a Plaintiff must allege that he ‘lost money or property as a result’ of 
the alleged competition, meaning that there must be a “showing of a causal connection or reliance on 
the alleged misrepresentation.” (Hall v. Time, Inc. (2008) 158 Cal.App.4th 847, 855.) The Complaint 
fails to explain what specific injury has been incurred, and what action or omission by Defendants led 
to that injury. The Complaint alleges that a Notice of Default was filed before Plaintiffs sought a loan 
modification. Only after the Notice of Default was filed did Plaintiffs file their Complete Loan 
Modification Application. That Application was reviewed and denied within a week. Thereafter, 
Plaintiffs timely filed an appeal which appears to still be pending (per the allegations in the 
Complaint).  

Even though the Complaint alleges technical violations of some portions of the HBOR, Plaintiffs have 
failed to show that any of them are material, nor are there any factual allegations showing that these 
actions caused any particular injury to Plaintiffs. The Complaint alleges that the process of seeking a 
loan modification is “purposefully lengthy” and as such Plaintiffs have incurred interest and fees that 
they otherwise would not have incurred. (Complaint at ¶63.) The process, however, is set forth in the 
HBOR, and thus cannot be deemed to be “purposefully lengthy” if it is what is required under the Civil 
Code. In addition, Plaintiffs’ contention that the process is lengthy is undermined by the allegations 
that their Complete Loan Modification Application was reviewed and a determination made within 5 
business days.  

In a consumer case, in order to show that an alleged practice is ‘unfair’ under the UCL, the plaintiff 
must establish three factors: “(1) The consumer injury must be substantial; (2) the injury must not be 
outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or competition; and (3) it must be an injury 
that consumers themselves could not have reasonably avoided.” (Davis v. Ford Motor Credit Co. LLC 
(2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 581, 597-98.) Plaintiffs have failed to show that they are entitled to a loan 
modification, or even that they will not ultimately receive one since their appeal is still pending. Also, 
as Defendants point out, the foreclosure proceedings could reasonably have been avoided if Plaintiffs 
remained current on their payment obligations. (Ibid.)  

Based on the above, Defendants’ demurrer to the seventh cause of action is sustained. (CCP § 
430.10(e).) Plaintiff is granted leave to amend. 
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Civil Code § 3412 

Plaintiffs allege that they “have a reasonable belief that the Notice of Default, instrument no. 2022-

0026153 is voidable or void ab initio.” (Complaint at ¶72.) They also allege that they have a 

“reasonable apprehension that if these voidable or void ab initio recorded written instruments is left 

outstanding, it may cause serious injury to” Plaintiffs. (Id. at ¶73.)  

The Complaint, however, does not include any factual allegations explaining how or why the Notice of 

Default is void or voidable. In an action to cancel a certain instrument, “it is essential to allege the 

facts affecting the validity and invalidity of the instrument which is attacked.” (Kroeker v. Hurlbert 

(1940) 38 Cal.App.2d 261, 266.) “A plaintiff must provide facts, ‘not mere conclusions, showing the 

apparent validity of the instrument designated, and point out the reason for asserting that it is 

actually invalid.” (Santana v. BSI Fin. Servs., Inc. (S.D. Cal. 2020) 495 F.Supp.3d 926, 950 quoting 

Ephraim v. Metropolitan Trust Co. of California (1946) 28 Cal.2d 824, 833.)  

Based on the above, Defendants’ demurrer to the eighth cause of action is sustained. (CCP § 
430.10(e).) Plaintiff is granted leave to amend. 
 

 

  
    

3. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC18-01289 
CASE NAME:  COLVIS VS. GARAVENTA 
 *HEARING ON MOTION IN RE:  STRIKE OR TAX COSTS  
FILED BY: GARAVENTA, JOSEPH 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
The motion to strike costs is granted and costs reduced by $1,129.79.  C.C.P. § 1033.5 
 

 

  
    

4. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-02483 
CASE NAME:  GOLLABA VS. EBMUD 
 HEARING ON DEMURRER TO:  DEMURRER TO S.A.C BY TOWN OF MORAGA FILED ON 8/29/22  
FILED BY: TOWN OF MORAGA 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Defendant Town of Moraga (“Town”) has filed a demurrer to the Second Amended Complaint.  For 
the reasons discussed below, the demurrer is sustained.  
 
Relevant Facts 
 
Plaintiff’s original complaint (using Judicial Council form PLD-PI-001) filed November 12, 2021 named 
the East Bay Municipal Utility District, the Town, the City of Oakland, and Alameda County as 
defendants in her action for a breach of duty of care for her slip and fall in front of property located in 
the Town.  On January 6, 2022, the Town sought more time to respond to the original complaint 
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noting that they intended to file a demurrer and had been unable to have the requisite “meet and 
confer” with plaintiff’s counsel prior to filing their demurrer.  A first amended complaint was filed by 
Plaintiff on January 28, 2022.  Plaintiff filed the complaint on the above-named Judicial Council form 
and attached a two page narrative specifying claims against the Moraga Homeowners Association, 
dismissing the Alameda County and the City of Oakland.  The Town demurred to the First Amended 
Complaint.  Plaintiff did not file any opposition to the Town’s demurrer to the FAC; it was sustained 
with leave to amend.  Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) was filed on August 4, 2022.  In 
addition to the Judicial Council form and the allegations on attached pages regarding the DEFENDANT 
TOWN OF MORAGA, the SAC contains a specific paragraph alleging that the Town “were owners, 
builders, operators, designers, repairers, possessors, lessors, managers, custodians, supervisors, 
inspectors, servicers, controllers, engineers, contractors, renters, and/or maintainers of the pipes, 
lines, connectors, water system, drainage, or other construction type water project running on, 
through, around, in fron [sic] of the real property located at 915 Augusta Dr. Moraga, CA 94556”.  The 
Town is then alleged to have violated their duty of care.  The Town asserts that the SAC fails to state 
their complaint with sufficient particularity.  No opposition to the demurrer was received by the 
Court.  
 
Standard 
 
“The function of a demurrer is to test the sufficiency of the complaint as a matter of law.” (Holiday 
Matinee, Inc. v. Rambus, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1413, 1420.) A complaint “is sufficient if it alleges 
ultimate rather than evidentiary facts” (Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 42 Cal.4th 531, 550 (“Doe”)), 
but the plaintiff must set forth the essential facts of his or her case “with reasonable precision and 
with particularity sufficient to acquaint [the] defendant with the nature, source and extent” of the 
plaintiff’s claim. (Doheny Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., Inc. v. Truck Ins. Exchange (2005) 132 
Cal.App.4th 1076, 1099.) Legal conclusions are insufficient. Id. at 1098–1099; Doe at 551, fn. 5. The 
Court “assume[s] the truth of the allegations in the complaint, but do[es] not assume the truth of 
contentions, deductions, or conclusions of law.” (California Logistics, Inc. v. State of California (2008) 
161 Cal.App.4th 242, 247.) “The existence and scope of duty are legal questions for the court.” 
(Merrill v. Navegar, Inc. (2001) 26 Cal.4th 465, 477.) 
 
Analysis 
 
To state a claim against a public entity for injury caused by a dangerous condition of public property, 
a plaintiff must plead the following: (1) a dangerous condition existed on the public property at the 
time of the injury; (2) the dangerous condition proximately caused the injury; (3) the dangerous 
condition created a reasonably foreseeable risk of the kind of injury sustained; and (4) the public 
entity had actual or constructive notice of the dangerous condition of the property and sufficient time 
to have taken measures to protect against the dangerous condition. Tolan v. State of California ex rel. 
Dep't of Transp., 100 Cal. App. 3d 980, 984 (1979). And any such cause of action must be brought 
pursuant to section 835 of the California Government Code (“Section 835”). See Nishihama v. City & 
Cty. of S.F., 93 Cal. App. 4th 298, 302 (2001) (“A public entity is not liable for injuries except as 
provided by statute, and Government Code section 835 sets out the exclusive conditions under which 
a public entity may be held liable for injuries caused by a dangerous condition of property.”). Because 
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“all governmental tort liability is based on statute, the general rule that statutory causes of action 
must be pleaded with particularity is applicable. Thus, ‘to state a cause of action against a public 
entity, every fact material to the existence of its statutory liability must be pleaded with 
particularity.’” City of L.A. v. Superior Court, 62 Cal. App. 5th 129, 138 (2021) (quoting Lopez v. 
Southern Cal. Rapid Transit Dist., 40 Cal. 3d 780, 795 (1985). 
 
 Plaintiff’s claim fails to plead a dangerous condition, nor describe any physical defect in the 
dangerous condition and fails to plead that the Town owned or controlled the subject property.   
 
Plaintiff has had two opportunities to sufficiently plead a claim against the Town and granting leave to 
amend appears to be futile.  Therefore, unless the Plaintiff contests this tentative ruling and comes to 
the hearing prepared to identify facts she intends to allege in support of her claim, the demurrer is 
sustained without leave to amend. 

 

  
    

5. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-02698 
CASE NAME:  SANTIAGO VS. MULHERRON 
 *HEARING ON MOTION IN RE:  MOTION TO VACATE DISMISSAL W/OUT PREJUDICE FOR FAILURE 
TO ATTEND FILED BY PLAINTIFFS ON 8/17/22  
FILED BY: SANTIAGO, CARMEN 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
The code of Civil Procedure, section 473(b) allows a court to “relieve a party or his or her legal 
representative from a judgment, dismissal, order, or other proceeding taken against him or her 
through his or her mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect.”  Counsel for plaintiff has 
moved to vacate the dismissal without prejudice for excusable neglect and mistake.   The Court, 
having reviewed the application of counsel for Plaintiff grants the relief sought.  The dismissal is 
vacated and a Case Management Conference is set for March 1, 2023.  Plaintiff counsel to notify 
Defendant of new date upon service of process. 
 

 

  
    

6. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC22-00213 
CASE NAME:  PAWNEE LEASING CORP VS GRANITE SPRINGS WINERY 
 HEARING ON SUMMARY MOTION    
FILED BY: PAWNEE LEASING CORPORATION 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Before the Court is a motion filed by Plaintiff Pawnee Leasing Corporation ("Pawnee" or "Plaintiff") 
for summary judgment, or alternatively summary adjudication against defendants Jill Osur and 
Thomas Atherstone, and for a default judgment against defendant Granite Springs Winery LLC. For 
the reasons set forth, the motion for summary judgment or alternatively, summary adjudication as to 
defendants Jill Osur and Thomas Atherstone is denied. For the reasons stated, the hearing on the 
request for entry of a default judgment as to defendant Granite is continued to 9:00 a.m. on 
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November 3, 2022, subject to further briefing and proof as set forth below. 

Background 

Pawnee is the lessor under a written lease dated December 13, 2019 for certain equipment to 
defendant Granite Springs Winery LLC ("Granite"). (Pl. RJN [Fitzgerald Decl. filed 4/21/2022, ¶ 10 and 
Exh. 1 ("Lease")].) The Lease is subject to a written guaranty of Granite's lease obligations executed by 
defendants Jill Osur and Thomas Atherstone, the principles of Granite (collectively, "Individual 
Defendants" or "Guarantors"). (Fitzgerald Decl. ¶¶ 12, 13 and Exh. 1].) (See also Defendant's [sic] 
Response to Plaintiff's Separate Statement of Undisputed Facts and Supporting Evidence etc. ("Pl. 
Resp.") Nos. 1-3, 11-13.) Granite defaulted under the Lease by failing to make the lease payment due 
on or about October 15, 2021 and the subsequent lease payments. (Fitzgerald Decl. ¶ 17 and Pl. Resp. 
Nos. 4, 14.)  

Plaintiff filed its Complaint alleging five causes of action, including breach of contract based on breach 
of the Lease (1st C/A), two common counts (2nd and 3rd C/As), breach of Osur's guaranty (4th C/A), 
and breach of Atherstone's guaranty (5th C/A). Plaintiff has voluntarily dismissed without prejudice 
the second and third causes of action. 

Granite failed to respond timely to the Complaint, and its default was entered on July 14, 2022. 
Defendants Osur and Atherstone have each filed answers to the Complaint and oppose the motion.  

Plaintiff's Motion 

In a single motion, Plaintiff seeks (1) summary judgment against the Individual Defendants, (2) 
alternatively, summary adjudication of its fourth and fifth causes of action against Osur and 
Atherstone, respectively, and the affirmative defenses asserted in the Individual Defendants' answers, 
and (3) entry of a default judgment against Granite on its first cause of action.  

Procedural Issues 

A. Improper Method of Service of Opposition 

Plaintiff objects to the manner of service of the Individual Defendants' opposition, which was served 
by mail rather than by overnight mail, facsimile or personal service. (Code Civ. Proc. § 1005(c).) It does 
not appear, however, that Plaintiff was prejudiced by the delayed receipt of the opposition, as 
Pawnee has filed a substantive reply on the merits of the issues raised in the opposition and has not 
requested a continuance. The opposition does not present new evidence but primarily challenges 
whether Plaintiff has met its burden of demonstrating Pawnee is entitled to judgment as a matter of 
law  based on the law and evidence Pawnee has presented, which the Court also must review 
independently to determine whether Plaintiff is entitled to relief. The Court will consider the 
opposition under the circumstances. 

B. Plaintiff's Request for Judicial Notice of Fitzgerald Declaration 

Plaintiff requests the Court take judicial notice of a prior declaration filed by Kenny Fitzgerald of 
Pawnee in support of Pawnee's applications for writs of attachment which is a pleading in the Court's 
file in this action. The Court interprets the request for judicial notice as a re-submission or 
incorporation of the prior filed declaration as support for this motion and considers the content of the 
declaration based on that interpretation of the submission.  
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Standards Governing Motion for Summary Judgment or for Summary Adjudication 

The Court of Appeal summarized the standards for granting summary judgment in Advent, Inc. v. 
National Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, PA (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 443: " '[W]here the plaintiff has . . . 
moved for summary judgment . . . [it] has the burden of showing there is no defense to a cause of 
action. (Code Civ. Proc., § 437c, subd. (a).) That burden can be met if the plaintiff "has proved each 
element of the cause of action entitling [it] to judgment on that cause of action." (Code Civ. Proc., § 
437c, subd. (p)(1).) If the plaintiff meets this burden, it is up to the defendant "to show that a triable 
issue of one or more material facts exists as to that cause of action or a defense thereto." (Code Civ. 
Proc., § 437c, subd. (p)(1).)' [Citation omitted.]" (Id. at 453.) 

A plaintiff as the moving party does not need to disprove the defendant's defenses and meets its 
burden of showing there is no defense to the claim if it proves each element of the cause of action 
that would entitle plaintiff to judgment on that cause of action in its favor. (Aguilar v. Atlantic 
Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 849, 853; Paramount Petroleum Corp. v. Superior Court (2014) 227 
Cal.App.4th 226, 241; CCP § 437c(p)(1).) The issues to be considered on a motion for summary 
judgment are defined by the pleadings. (Doe v. Good Samaritan Hospital (2018) 23 Cal.App.5th 653, 
661 [issues considered on summary judgment are "defined by the pleadings"]; Teselle v. McLoughlin 
(2009) 173 Cal.App.4th 156, 161 ["The complaint measures the materiality of the facts tendered in a 
defendant's challenge to the plaintiff's cause of action.,” quoting FPI Development, Inc. v. Nakashima 
(1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 367, 381.) 

Motions for summary adjudication under Code of Civil Procedure section 437c(f)(1) "are 'procedurally 
identical' to summary judgment motions. [Citation.]' " (Duffey v. Tender Heart Home Care Agency, LLC 
(2019) 31 Cal.App.5th 232, 240 [quoting Serri v. Santa Clara University (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 830, 
859–860].) In deciding a motion for summary judgment or summary adjudication, the Court views the 
evidence in the light most favorable to the opposing party, drawing "all reasonable inferences in favor 
of that party. [Citations omitted.]" (Weiss v. People ex rel. Dept. of Transportation (2020) 9 Cal.5th 
840, 864 ("Weiss").) Declarations and other evidence offered in support of a motion for summary 
judgment are strictly construed, while declarations and evidence offered in opposition to the motion 
are liberally construed. (D’Amico v. Bd. of Medical Examiners (1974) 11 Cal.3d 1, 20; Johnson v. 
American Standard, Inc. (2008) 43 Cal.4th 56, 64.) 

Code of Civil Procedure section 437c(f)(1) authorizes the Court to issue an order for summary 
adjudication "if it completely disposes of a cause of action, an affirmative defense, a claim for 
damages, or an issue of duty." (Code Civ. Proc. § 437c(f)(1).) (See also Nazir v. United Airlines, Inc. 
(2009) 178 Cal.App.4th 243, 251.) Where damages are an element of the cause of action, and there is 
a material issue of fact in dispute on the issue of damages, summary adjudication of that cause of 
action cannot be granted. (Paramount Petroleum Corp. v. Superior Court (2014) 227 Cal.App.4th 226, 
241 [disputed facts concerning damages on breach of contract claim precluded summary adjudication 
of that cause of action]; Dept. of Indus. Rel. v. UI Video Stores, Inc. (1997) 55 Cal.App.4th 1084, 1090 
[breach of contract claim where damages are unresolved precludes Court from granting summary 
judgment].) 

Even if the motion for summary judgment or summary adjudication is unopposed, the Court must 
independently review the motion to determine if the motion demonstrates by admissible evidence 
that there is no triable issue of material fact and that Plaintiff is entitled to an order for summary 
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judgment, or for summary adjudication as a matter of law. (Code Civ. Proc. § 437c(c); Duffey v. Tender 
Heart Home Care Agency, LLC, supra, 31 Cal.App.5th at 241.)  

Analysis of Motion for Summary Judgment or Alternative Motion for Summary Adjudication  

Under California law, the essential elements of a cause of action for breach of contract are "(1) the 
existence of the contract, (2) plaintiff's performance or excuse for nonperformance, (3) defendant's 
breach, and (4) the resulting damages to the plaintiff. [Citations omitted.]" (Oasis West Realty, LLC v. 
Goldman, supra, 51 Cal.4th at 821.) Damages are an essential element of the cause of action.  

As the opposition points out, Plaintiff's moving papers and supporting memorandum rely on 
California contract and suretyship law and do not cite any Colorado law, though the Lease, which 
incorporates the guaranties, by its terms is governed by the law of that state. Plaintiff has not cited 
any authority in its motion indicating that the laws of Colorado and California governing equipment 
leases, the guaranties, and Plaintiff's right to recover the damages it seeks are the same or 
substantially similar.  

Plaintiff argues in its reply that Pawnee unilaterally can waive the application of Colorado law under 
the lease because it was the party for whose benefit Colorado law was chosen, in effect arguing 
Plaintiff is relying on California law to support Pawnee's claim. The choice-of-law issue is not 
addressed in the moving papers or by any evidence supporting this position. There is no evidence in 
support of the motion that the governing law provision in the Lease was inserted for Pawnee's 
benefit. (See Reply p. 4, ll. 10-12.) Two of Plaintiff's choice of law decisions address choice of law in 
personal injury actions, not actions for breach of contract, and the third case, Wong v. Tenneco, Inc. 
(1985) 39 Cal.3d 126 involved a question of choice of law between this forum and another nation 
(Mexico) in which the Court refused to enforce a contract made in violation of Mexico law. The 
applicable law in this case is significant based on the damages Plaintiff is demanding, including 24% 
interest, discussed below.  

A. Failure to Prove Legal Right to Amounts Claimed as Damages as to 4th and 5th C/As 

Plaintiff has demonstrated there is no triable issue of material fact in dispute regarding Granite's 
breach of the Lease, Pawnee's right to possession of the equipment, or that Granite and the 
Guarantors agreement under the Lease and Guaranties that they will pay "all costs and expenses, 
including reasonable attorneys' fees incurred by Plaintiff" in the collection of the amounts due under 
the Lease and guaranties based on Defendant's admissions in their verified answers to the Complaint 
and their response to Plaintiff's Separate Statement in support of the motion. (Ferns Decl. ISO Mot. re 
Admissions of Fact; Pl. Resp. Nos. 4, 5, 8, 9, 14, 15, 18, 19.)  

1. Damages Components 

Plaintiff's moving papers, however, fail to demonstrate Pawnee's right to summary judgment as a 
matter of law or to summary adjudication of the fourth and fifth causes of action by demonstrating its 
right to the amounts included in the principal amount of its claim and its right to 24% interest on that 
principal amount under the Lease, under the law governing the Lease and guaranties (Colorado), or 
under California law. Defendants' answers did not admit the amounts claimed by Pawnee. (Osur Ans. 
to Compl. ¶¶ 15, 16, 28; Atherstone Ans. to Compl. ¶¶ 15, 16, 31.)  

To obtain summary judgment or summary adjudication, Plaintiff must demonstrate both the fact of 
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damage and the amount of damages. (Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency v. McGrath (2005) 
128 Cal.App.4th 1093, 1106 ["The Agency's damages were, of course, an element of its cause of 
action. [Citations omitted.] As a result, the Agency could not establish a prima facie entitlement to 
summary judgment without showing both the fact and the amount of damages. [Citations omitted, 
italics in original.]"]; CDF Firefighters v. Maldonado (2008) 158 Cal.App.4th 1226, 1239-1240 
[reversing summary judgment for plaintiff stating, "We agree with appellants that CDFF was not 
entitled to summary judgment because it did not establish its prima facie case on the issue of 
damages, or alternatively, because there is a triable issue of fact with respect to the amount and 
reasonableness of the fine. . . . [¶] As a civil litigant seeking to obtain and enforce a money judgment, 
CDFF must, among other things, meet its burden of proof that the amount of damages constituted full 
or partial restitution, or that the amount of damages could be supported by some other provision of 
the bylaws."].) 

The Fitzgerald Declaration states he obtained a 1/19/22 "accounting" from Pawnee's computer 
system which he states was "done" by the declarant or under his direction and control. (Fitzgerald 
Decl. ¶ 18 and Exh. 3.) The declarant also submits a 1/19/22 "payment history" which he also states 
he obtained from Pawnee's computer system and was "done" either by the declarant or under his 
direction or control. (Fitzgerald Decl. ¶ 18 and Exh. 4.)  

The components of the accounting, Exhibit 3, which total the $28,798.45 demanded in the Complaint 
and the motion include line items for (1) a "purchase option" of $3,477.04," (2) "returned payments" 
of $1,738.52, without any apparent indication of any returned payments listed on the payment 
history (Exh. 4), (3) "tax on contract obligation" of $1,796.94, and (4) "miscellaneous charges" which 
include 6 separate components, including "sales and use taxes" (apparently different from the "final 
personal property tax" charge listed elsewhere in Exhibit 3), "return charge" apparently different from 
the "returned payments," "late charge," and a separate "finance charge." The Fitzgerald Declaration 
and the supporting memorandum do not identify any provisions of the Lease or guaranties that 
authorize recovery of these line items. There is no explanation of what some of these line items 
represent, the source of the information supporting these line items (other than Pawnee's computer 
system), or how these components of the "principal" payoff amount were calculated or determined 
either by Fitzgerald or any other employee of Pawnee.  

2. Interest on Damages 

Plaintiff also seeks as part of the judgment an award of 24% interest on the principal balance of 
$28,798.45. Though not cited in the moving papers, paragraph 10 of the Lease ("Default") states in 
part "You will also pay interest on any unpaid damages at the lower of 24% per year or the maximum 
interest rate permitted by applicable law." (Fitzgerald Decl. Exh. 1, ¶ 10, p. 3 of 3 [emphasis added].)  

Despite having argued California legal authority in the motion and suggesting in its reply that Plaintiff 
can rely on California law to support the motion, Plaintiff then argues Colorado law to support the 
24% interest rate on a non-consumer loan. Plaintiff's motion does not address the validity of the 24% 
interest claim in any argument or law presented in the motion, and it is not properly raised for the 
first time in reply. Having relied on California law in the motion, Plaintiff cannot then ask the Court to 
selectively apply Colorado law when that law is more favorable for the enforcement of a specific 
Lease provision.  
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Reverting to California law, Plaintiff also argues for the first time in its reply that, though the 
California Constitution Art. 15 section 1 generally limits the allowable interest rate to 10%, Pawnee is 
a "supervised finance lender" and is an exempt lender under an unspecified provision of the California 
Financial Code. (Reply p. 5, l. 21 – p. 6, l. 6.) This argument and authority for Plaintiff's right to the 
24% interest it seeks was not raised in the moving papers. Further, Pawnee has not presented any 
evidence in support of its motion that Pawnee meets the qualifications under California law to 
recover interest at a rate higher than allowed in the California Constitution.  

As to the usury argument raised in the Individual Defendants' opposition, Plaintiff cites no California 
case that holds that the failure to assert usury as an affirmative defense precludes the Individual 
Defendants from raising the defense in opposition to Plaintiff's motion. However, "[w]hether a 
transaction is usurious is generally a question of fact [citations omitted]; it is proper to decide the 
issue as a matter of law where the court can easily determine whether a certain interest charge does 
or does not exceed the lawful rate. [Citation omitted.]" (Domarad v. Fisher & Burke, Inc. (1969) 270 
Cal.App.2d 543, 560.) Even if the Individual Defendants can raise the defense in response to this 
motion, they have not presented any facts or evidence to support their usury argument to the extent 
they challenge the Lease as a usurious disguised loan, as required in opposing a motion for summary 
judgment or summary adjudication. 

Plaintiff also characterizes the 24% interest as a "default fee," but that characterization is not 
supported by the language of the Lease which refers to interest, not a fee. The opposition presents no 
facts or evidence to challenge the Lease as a disguised loan or secured transaction. Plaintiff's 
argument in its reply that the Lease is an "equipment lease" by its terms and not a loan may respond 
to the usury argument raised in the opposition regarding the lease payments, but it still does not 
address Plaintiff's right to payment of interest at 24% per annum on the principle amount due under 
the Lease after the Defendants' default. Plaintiff as the moving party on summary judgment bears the 
burden of demonstrating its right to the 24% interest it demands.  

Plaintiff has not met its burden of proving its right to recover the damages it is seeking in its motion 
as a matter of law for the reasons stated. This failure of proof precludes granting summary judgment 
or summary adjudication in Plaintiff's favor on the fourth and fifth causes of action. 

B. Summary Adjudication of Affirmative Defenses 

Code of Civil Procedure section 437c(f) permits a party to request summary adjudication of an 
affirmative defense. Plaintiff filed a "Motion for Summary Judgment or Alternatively Summary 
Adjudication and Request for Default Judgment" ("Motion") on July 12, 2022, which addresses its 
motion for summary judgment or summary adjudication of the fourth and fifth causes of action and 
request for default judgment against Granite. On the same date, Plaintiff filed a "Notice of Motion for 
Summary Judgment or Alternatively Summary Adjudication and Request for Default Judgment" 
("Notice") which also states "Affirmative Defenses 1 through 9 as to Defendant JILL OSUR have no 
merit" and makes a similar statement as to Thomas Atherstone. Plaintiff's Separate Statement does 
not repeat these issues but instead states "Factual allegations raised by Defendants JILL OSUR and 
THOMAS ATHERSTONE to the enforcement of the Guarantees have no Merit[.] Defendants JILL OSUR 
and THOMAS ATHERSTONE, as a matter of law, have raised no Affirmative Defense to the contractual 
liability owed to Plaintiff." (Pl. Sep. Stmt. p. 12, l. 26 – p. 13, l. 2.) The two facts asserted as to each of 
the Individual Defendants point to the admissions and affirmative defenses in their respective 
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answers.  

Rule 3.1350 of the California Rules of Court provides that "If summary adjudication is sought, whether 
separately or as an alternative to the motion for summary judgment, the specific cause of action, 
affirmative defense, claims for damages, or issues of duty must be stated specifically in the notice of 
motion and be repeated, verbatim, in the separate statement of undisputed material facts. (Cal. R. 
Ct. 3.1350(b) [emphasis added].) Rule 3.1350(d) also states: "The Separate Statement of Undisputed 
Material Facts in support of a motion must separately identify: (A) Each cause of action, claim for 
damages, issue of duty, or affirmative defense that is the subject of the motion; and (B) Each 
supporting material fact claimed to be without dispute with respect to the cause of action, claim for 
damages, issue of duty, or affirmative defense that is the subject of the motion." (Cal. R. Ct. 
3.1350(d)(1) [emphasis added].) Plaintiff's Notice and Motion do not comply with this rule, and for 
this reason, among others, the Court denies the motion for summary adjudication to the extent it is 
directed collectively to the affirmative defenses alleged in the answers of the Individual Defendants.  

Request for Default Judgment Against Granite 

Plaintiff requests entry of a default judgment against Granite under Code of Civil Procedure section 
585(b) and contends that the nature of the relief sought warrants the entry of the default judgment 
by the Court rather than the Clerk under the statute. Code of Civil Procedure section 585(b) provides 
in part that after the defendant is served, fails to answer, and its default is taken, "The plaintiff 
thereafter may apply to the court for the relief demanded in the complaint. The court shall hear the 
evidence offered by the plaintiff, and shall render judgment in the plaintiff’s favor for that relief, not 
exceeding the amount stated in the complaint, in the statement required by Section 425.11, or in the 
statement provided for by Section 425.115, as appears by the evidence to be just. If the taking of an 
account, or the proof of any fact, is necessary to enable the court to give judgment or to carry the 
judgment into effect, the court may take the account or hear the proof, or may, in its discretion, order 
a reference for that purpose. If the action is for the recovery of damages, in whole or in part, the 
court may order the damages to be assessed by a jury; or if, to determine the amount of damages, 
the examination of a long account is involved, by a reference as above provided." (Code Civ. Proc. § 
585(b).) 

Granite has not filed an answer and therefore has not contested, and cannot contest, any of the 
material allegations of the Complaint including the damages claimed in the Complaint. Nevertheless, 
given the Court's ruling on the motion for summary judgment or summary adjudication regarding 
Granite's principals, Plaintiff must provide additional proof and legal authority to support entry of the 
default judgment it requests. In particular, Plaintiff's request fails to demonstrate Plaintiff is entitled 
to the 24% interest demanded given the language of the Lease and Plaintiff's reliance on California 
law as the basis for relief without any adequate authority or evidence that Plaintiff would be entitled 
to recover 24% interest under California law, rather than 10% interest under the California 
Constitution as cited in Plaintiff's reply, as well as other components of the damages listed in the 
Fitzgerald Declaration, Exhibit 3.  

From Plaintiff's reply, it is not clear whether Plaintiff intends to rely on Colorado law, stated to be the 
governing law in the Lease but which has not been briefed by Plaintiff in its moving papers, or 
California law. Plaintiff's supplemental brief should address the circumstances under which California 
law enforces a voluntary agreement establishing the governing law in a contract, if Colorado law 
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would apply under that California authority, the Colorado authority that supports Plaintiff's right to 
recover the damages claimed, including the interest, and if California law should instead be applied, 
Plaintiff's right to the damages claimed under applicable California authority, including the interest 
claimed, notwithstanding the limits under the California Constitution cited in Plaintiff's reply. 
Plaintiff's supplemental briefing may include supplemental evidence as necessary to support the relief 
sought in the default judgment, including any supplemental declaration regarding Pawnee's status as 
a licensed lender under the California Financial Code as referenced in the opposition if it contends 
California law should be applied.  

With regard to the motion for default judgment, Plaintiff shall file its supplemental brief and any 
additional evidence by October 20, 2022. A continued hearing on the request for entry of default 
judgment shall be scheduled for 9:00 a.m. on November 3, 2022, if needed, as the Court will review 
Plaintiff's supplemental briefing and may rule on the request based on Plaintiff's supplemental papers 
without a hearing.  

 

  

 


